IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

STATE OF IOWA,)
)
 Plaintiff-Appellee,)
)
 v.) S.CT. NO. 17-1697
)
 DALE ROBERT TOURNIER,)
)
 Defendant-Appellant.)

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR BREMER COUNTY
HONORABLE CHRIS FOY, JUDGE

APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND ARGUMENT

MARK C. SMITH
State Appellate Defender

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. DID THE COURT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT FAILED TO GRANT TOURNIER A NEW TRIAL BECAUSE THE WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE WAS CONTRARY TO THE VERDICT?

Authorities

State v. Ellis, 578 N.W.2d 655, 659 (Iowa 1998)

State v. Shanahan, 712 N.W.2d 121, 135 (Iowa 2006)

Iowa. R. Crim. P. 2.24(2)(b)(6) (2017)

State v. Ary, 877 N.W.2d 686, 706 (Iowa 2016)

State v. Nitcher, 720 N.W.2d 547, 559 (Iowa 2006)

II. DID THE DISTRICT COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT SUMMARILY DENIED THE DEFENSE REQUEST TO SET ASIDE THE JUDGMENT AND TAKE ADDITIONAL TESTIMONY PURSUANT TO IOWA RULE OF CRIMINAL PROCEDURE 2.24(2)(c)?

Authorities

State v. Tobin, 333 N.W.2d 842, 844 (Iowa 1983)

State v. Folkerts, 703 N.W.2d 761, 763 (Iowa 2005)

Iowa R. App. P. 6.907

State v. Carter, 158 N.W.2d 651 (Iowa 1968)

State v. Blum, 560 N.W.2d 7, 9 (Iowa 1997)

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.24(2)(c) (2017)

Taylor v. State, 352 N.W.2d 683, 684 (Iowa 1984)

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 669, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2055 (1984)

Gering v. State, 382 N.W.2d 151, 153-54 (Iowa 1986)

State v. Watkins, No. 01-0139, 2002 WL 1427560, at *10 (Iowa Ct. App. Jul. 3, 2002)

State v. Mujkanovic, No. 10-0768, 2011 WL 441358, at *5 (Iowa Ct. App. Feb. 9, 2011)

State v. Leikvold, No. 16-2018, 2017 WL 4315060, at *2 nt. 1 (Iowa Ct. App. Sept. 27, 2017)

State v. Young, No. 03-0673, 2004 WL 360493, at *1-*2 (Iowa Ct. App. Feb. 27, 2004)

State v. Young, 686 N.W.2d 182 (Iowa 2004)

State v. Howard, No. 03-0734, 2004 WL 894127, at *3 (Iowa Ct. App. Apr. 28, 2004)

Fed. R. Crim. P. 33(a)

District of Columbia Super. Ct. Crim. R. 33(a)

Rhode Island Super. R. Crim. P. 33

N.J. Ct. R. 3:20-1

Wyo. R. Crim. P. 33

MI R. RCRP MCR 6.431(C)

Unif. Rules. Crim. Procedure 1987 Rule 552

Green v. United States, 164 A.3d 86 (D.C. 2017)

Benton v. United States, 188 F.2d 625, 627 (D.C. Cir. 1951)

Brodie v. United States, 295 F.2d 157, 159-160 (D.C. Cir. 1961)

Lyons v. United States, 833 A.2d 481 (D.C. 2003)

Huggins v. United States, 333 A.2d 385 (D.C. 1975)

Tyer v. United States, 912 A.2d 1150, 1167 (D.C. 2006)

Poteat v. United States, 363 A.2d 295, 297 (D.C. 1976)

State v. Duffy, 705 A.2d 992, 993 (R.I. 1997)

State v. Forand, 958 A.2d 134, 141 (R.I. 2008)

State v. Medeiros, 996 A.2d 115, 123 (R.I. 2010)

State v. Erminelli, 991 A.2d 1064, 1070 (R.I. 2010)

State v. DiPetrillo, 922 A.2d 124, 138-39 (R.I. 2007)

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.24(2)(b)

State v. Robinson, 288 N.W.2d 782,787 (Iowa 1992)

State v. Allen, 348 N.W.2d 243, 246 (Iowa 1984)

State v. Adams, 810 N.W.2d 365, 370 (Iowa 2012)

Iowa R. Crim. P. 5.601 (2017)

State v. Dodson, 452 N.W.2d 610 (Iowa Ct. App. 1989)

State v. Brotherton, 384 N.W.2d 375 (Iowa 1986)

State v. Buck, 275 N.W.2d 194, 195 (Iowa 1979)

III. DID THE DISTRICT COURT ERR IN ASSESSING FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS TO TOURNIER FOR UNKNOWN AMOUNTS OF RESTITUTION, INCLUDING JAIL FEES PURSUANT TO IOWA CODE SECTION 356.7, WITHOUT FIRST OBTAINING A REQUEST FOR REIMBURSEMENT FROM THE JAIL?

Authorities

State v. Jenkins, 788 N.W.2d 640, 642 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Klawonn, 688 N.W.2d 271, 274 (Iowa 2004)

State v. Dudley, 766 N.W.2d 606, 612 (Iowa 2009)

State v. Thomas, 520 N.W.2d 311, 313 (Iowa Ct. App. 1994)

State v. Cooley, 587 N.W.2d 752, 754 (Iowa 1999)

State v. Van Hoff, 415 N.W.2d 647, 648 (Iowa 1987)

Hanson v. Passer, 13 F.3d 275, 279 (8th Cir.1994)

Walters v. Grossheim, 525 N.W.2d 830, 832 (Iowa 1994)

Iowa Code § 910.5(1) (2017)

State v. Storrs, 351 N.W.2d 520, 522 (Iowa 1984)

State v. Kaelin, 362 N.W.2d 526, 528 (Iowa 1985)

Iowa Code § 356.7 (2017)

State v. Abrahamson, 696 N.W.2d 589 (Iowa 2005)

State ex rel. Allee v. Gocha, 555 N.W.2d 683, 686 (Iowa 1996)

State v. Kurtz, 878 N.W.2d 469, 472-72 (Iowa Ct. App. 2016)

State v. Johnson, 887 N.W.2d 178, 183 (Iowa Ct. App. 2016)

State v. Tanner, No. 14-1963, 2016 WL 4384468, at *5 (Iowa Ct. App. Aug. 17, 2016)

State v. Wright, 340 N.W.2d 590, 592 (Iowa 1983)

State v. Buck, 275 N.W.2d 194, 195 (Iowa 1979)

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case should be retained by the Iowa Supreme Court because the issues raised involve a substantial issue of first impression in Iowa. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(d) and 6.1101(2)(c). Specifically, Tournier requests this Court determine that the appropriate application for the scope of Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.24(2)(c) requires more than just applying the standard for a motion for a new trial filed under Rule 2.24(2)(b) by looking at “exceptional circumstances” and whether vacating the judgment and taking additional testimony is in the “interests of justice.”

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case: Appellant Dale Tournier appeals following his bench trial, judgment, and sentence for: Sexual Abuse in the Second Degree, a Class B felony, in violation of Iowa Code sections 709.1 and 709.3(b).

Course of Proceedings: On August 22, 2016, the State charged Tournier with two counts of Sexual Abuse in the

Second Degree, a Class B felony, in violation of Iowa Code sections 709.1 and 709.3(b). (Trial Information) (App. pp. 6-7).

On February 7, 2017, Tournier filed a waiver of right to a jury trial, opting for a bench trial. (Waiver of Right to Jury Trial) (App. p. 8).

On May 31, 2017, a bench trial commenced. (Trial Tr. p. 4 L2-3). On June 1, 2017, the proceeding adjourned with July 10, 2017, set for the reading of the verdict. (Trial Tr. p. 350 L14-19). On August 7, 2017, a hearing was conducted for the reading of the findings of fact and verdict. (Hearing Tr. p. 2 L2-3). The Court found Tournier guilty of Count I and not guilty of Count II. (Hearing Tr. p. 4 L12-21; Verdict and Order) (App. pp. 13-16).

On September 18, 2017, trial counsel filed a motion for a new trial on the grounds that the verdict is contrary to the evidence. (Motion for a New Trial) (App. pp. 17-18). On October 9, 2017, the State filed a Resistance to the Motion for a New Trial. (Response to Motion for a New Trial) (App. p. 19). On October 16, 2017, a hearing was held on the Motion for a

New Trial. (Sent. Tr. p 2 L2-10). The Court denied the Defense motion for a new trial and the Defense request for the Court to vacate the judgment and take additional testimony pursuant to Iowa Rule for Criminal Procedure 2.24(2)(c). (Sent. Tr. p. 13 L20-23).

Tournier was sentenced to an indeterminate term of 25-years confinement, with a mandatory minimum of seven-tenths to be served. The Court suspended the fine associated with the conviction. A special sentence was applied pursuant to Iowa Code section 903B.1, along with a mandatory requirement to register as a sex offender. A surcharge of \$100 for the registry was assessed. The Court waived attorney fees finding that Tournier “has no reasonable ability to reimburse the State for the legal assistance he’s received in this case” due to his lengthy prison sentence. (Sent. Tr. p. 23 L17-p. 25 L6; Order of Disposition) (App. pp. 20-22). In the written order of disposition, the Court further ordered that Tournier pay jail fees pursuant to Iowa Code Section 356.7. The Court stated that “Defendant is found to have the reasonable ability to pay

certain obligations set forth herein, including but not limited to any crime victim assistance reimbursement, restitution to public agencies, and court costs including correctional fees.” (Order of Disposition) (App. pp. 20-22). The Court further established a payment plan of \$50 or more every 30 days (not monthly) with the first payment due in 30 days. (Order of Disposition) (App. pp. 20-22).

Notice of Appeal was filed on October 26, 2017. (Notice of Appeal) (App. p. 23).

Facts: The Court made the following written Findings of Fact at the conclusion of the bench trial:

1. The victim in this case is Z.K., a Caucasian female, who was born in 2010.
2. At all times relevant to this case, Z.K. was under 12 years of age, lived next door to Defendant, and was a playmate of K.T., the toddler daughter of Defendant.
3. Defendant is an adult Caucasian male. He is not related to Z.K. by either marriage or consanguinity.

4. At all times relevant to this case, Defendant and his family resided at 2809 East Bremer Avenue, Waverly, Bremer County, Iowa.

5. On July 4, 2016, Defendant knowingly and intentionally made contact between his finger or hand and the genitalia of Z.K. This contact was skin to skin, was not inadvertent or accidental, and was sexual in nature.

6. The sexual contact between Defendant and Z.K. described above took place in or near the residence of Defendant.

(Hearing Tr. p. 3 L20-p. 4 L11; Verdict and Order) (App. pp. 13-16).

Other relevant facts will be discussed below.

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT FAILED TO GRANT TOURNIER A NEW TRIAL BECAUSE THE WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE WAS CONTRARY TO THE VERDICT.

Preservation of Error: Error was preserved when trial counsel moved for a new trial on the grounds that the weight

of the evidence was contrary to the verdict, and the district court denied the motion. (Sent. Tr. p. 2 L25-p. 13 L20; Motion for a New Trial; Order of Disposition) (App. pp. 17-18, 20-22).

Standard of Review: A district court should grant a motion for a new trial only in exceptional circumstances. See State v. Ellis, 578 N.W.2d 655, 659 (Iowa 1998). On appeal the standard of review of rulings on a motion for new trial asserting a verdict is contrary to the weight of the evidence is for an abuse of discretion. See State v. Shanahan, 712 N.W.2d 121, 135 (Iowa 2006).

Discussion: A district court may grant a motion for a new trial when “the verdict is contrary to law or evidence.” See Iowa. R. Crim. P. 2.24(2)(b)(6) (2017). “The weight-of-the-evidence standard requires the district court to consider whether more ‘credible evidence’ supports the verdict rendered than supports the alternative verdict.” State v. Ary, 877 N.W.2d 686, 706 (Iowa 2016) (citing Ellis, 578 N.W.2d at 658-59.) This standard allows the court to consider the credibility of the witnesses. See State v. Nitcher, 720 N.W.2d 547, 559

(Iowa 2006). “The question for the court is not whether there was sufficient credible evidence to support the verdict rendered or an alternative verdict, but whether ‘a greater amount of credible evidence’ suggests the verdict rendered was a miscarriage of justice.” Ary, 877 N.W.2d at 706 (citing Ellis, 578 N.W.2d at 658-59).

In this case, the court limited its findings of fact to six points, the most relevant of them: “5. On July 4, 2016, Defendant knowingly and intentionally made contact between his finger or hand and the genitalia of Z.K. This contact was skin to skin, was not inadvertent or accidental, and was sexual in nature. 6. The sexual contact between Defendant and Z.K. described above took place in or near the resident of Defendant.” (Verdict and Order)(App. pp. 13-16). Tournier was charged with two counts of sexual abuse, one digital and one oral. The court found him not guilty of the oral allegation. (Verdict and Order) (App. pp. 13-16). As trial counsel stated during the motion hearing, “The allegations in this case are virtually identical. However, occurring at different times and

locations. Which presents the obvious why. Why did the State meet its burden on one count but not the other. Or why did the Court find that the allegations of the child in question was more credible as to one count but not the others. And a finding of fact that were entered do not answer that question.” (Sent. Tr. p. 5 L17-25).

The Court further explained during the hearing on the motion the reasons for why the Court found Tournier guilty of the one charge:

Defendant is seeking a new trial because, um, he argues the Court’s verdict was contrary to the evidence, was against the weight – the greater weight of the evidence that was submitted at trial.

The, um –

And applying that standard, the Court finds that the motion should be denied.

Um.

The – The Court made the determination that, um, the State had proven beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Tournier had, um – had digital contact, finger or hand contact, with the – the vagina of – of [Z.K.], the victim.

Um. I – I’m not sure that any purpose would be served by the Court, um, trying to rehash all of the evidence that it relied on in reaching its verdict.

I will note that, um, the initial report was made by [Z.K.] immediately upon her return to her grandparents’ home that evening.

Um.

In the Court's opinion, its experience, that, um, a - a child that age does not, um - does not initiate that kind of conversation unless, um, it's something they've actually experienced.

Um.

The, um -

I will acknowledge that there are certain aspects of [Z.K.'s] trial testimony that don't match - that - that do not match precisely with, um, statements she had made to other people involved.

Um.

The - Any distinction between her trial testimony and what she had told other people in the Court's opinion are pretty much details and can certainly be, um, expected when, um, a child that age is being asked to recount events that took place, um, I think as of the time of trial would have been at least ten - ten months old.

Yeah.

It would have been at least ten months after the fact.

Um.

[Z.K.], um, in the Court's opinion was - was consistent about the - the digital or the finger and hand contact, um, that Mr. Tournier had with her vagina.

And quite honestly, um, in the opinion of the Court, um, the statements and the conduct of - of Mr. Tournier, um, were also, um, strong indicator of guilt.

Um.

Mr. Tournier's explanations of what had taken place, initially it's the Court's recollection that, um, some of the -the comments that Mr. Tournier had made to others about this, um, indicated a knowledge of what had actually taken place that, um, he would have not have had if the events hadn't happened.

Um.

Mr. Tournier, um, gave different explanations or justifications, rationalizations for, um, what might have happened or how he could explain away what happened.

Um.

In trying to minimize or justify – somewhat justify the contact he had with, um –with [Z.K.], the sexual contact he had with her that day. Um.

The testimony indicated that while there were other people in the vicinity of Mr. Tournier and [Z.K.] for – at different times during the day, that afternoon and evening, I don't believe the testimony showed that there was never a time that they were – that—

I guess I want to restate that.

Um.

The Court's not satisfied that the people that were present, and I guess specifically [K.T.], um, that [K.T] would have necessarily been old enough to really understand or, um, alert others, um, to what she was observing.

Um. And – And the adults that testified they were in and out of the room testified that it was their –there was a period of time when there was no adult –other adult in that room. Um.

The – I think it was Mr. Tourn –Tournier's wife was sleeping up until, I don't recall specifically, I want to say 3:30 or four o'clock that afternoon. Um.

And, um.

The other witness that testified to being out in the – the living room again was not actually in the bedroom. Um.

DEFENDANT: She was.

THE COURT: Didn't have a direct view of what was happening or the things that could have been happening in that room.

So.

In the Court's analysis of the evidence, the fact that other adults were in and out of the bedroom or were in and out of the house was a factor that it considered but didn't find, um, adequate to raise reasonable doubt about, um, the testimony provided by [Z.K.] and, um, the – the inculpatory statements that Mr. Tournier had made – made over the – the days – the evening of that event and the days following.

So I am going to deny the Motion for a New Trial.

(Sent. Tr. p. 10 L2-p. 13 L20). The Court's expanded analysis of the facts is not consistent with the evidence and is an abuse of discretion in denying the motion.

Statements of Z.K. The Court indicated that overall it found the statements of Z.K. to be consistent, and that the inconsistencies would be justifiable. (Sent. Tr. p. 11 L2-18). A review of Z.K.'s statements shows that she had numerous inconsistencies in what she alleged happened and where those allegations occurred.

Z.K. initially reported the alleged touching to her parents, Theresa and Gary Kampman. She told them that she was not

supposed to tell them because he would be mad at her. Z.K. further stated that Dale touched her here, and pointed between her legs and her butt. Further inquiry led to the disclosure that Tournier had his hand inside Z.K.'s pants. (Trial Tr. p. 71 L5-9; Trial Tr. p. 74 L3-9; Trial Tr. p. 93 L16-p. 94 L15; Trial Tr. p. 105 L25-p. 106 L12). According to Captain Jason Leonard, the police officer in charge of the investigation, the original allegation from Z.K. alleged that the touching occurred on the trampoline. (Trial Tr. p. 187 L11-20; Trial Tr. p. 197 L5-24). At no point in time during her initial reporting did Z.K. mention that Tournier licked her. (Trial Tr. p. 57 L21-p. 58 L5).

When Z.K. was interviewed the next day she told Katie Strub, the forensic interviewer, that the allegations occurred multiple times in different locations. Z.K. told Strub that it first happened on the trampoline and then in K.T.'s bedroom. Z.K. alleged that they were playing on the trampoline and she fell down; Tournier then touched her inside her panties and licked her. Z.K. told Strub that she could not remember

Tournier telling her anything at that time. She also indicated that K.T. was present at the time of the alleged touching on the trampoline. (Exh. G-DVD).

When asked by Strub about the allegations in K.T.'s bedroom, Z.K. was adamant that Tournier licked her. She also stated that Tournier told her to not tell her mom and dad. When asked to detail out the timeline, Z.K. had a difficult time remembering what happened. This resulted in Strub prompting Z.K. by repeating the allegations to Z.K. (Trial Tr. p. 239 L17-p. 240 L23). Shortly after the prompting by Strub, Z.K. states "It was last night. *I had a dream about it.*" (Exh. G-DVD-15:31:52; emphasis added). Z.K. then proceeded to rapidly explain the timeline of the evening, stating that she was outside and got a bug bite, went to K.T.'s room after eating, the dog licked her and she felt it's teeth. Then Z.K. alleged that she laid down on the floor and Tournier touched her and licked her. (Exh. G-DVD-15:32:00-15:32:34). Z.K. seems particularly confused as to what actually happened to her: "I didn't like it when he was licking-he licked me

everywhere I went-I mean touched me.” (Exh. G-DVD-15:33:41-15:34:02). Throughout the interview with Strub, Z.K. had difficulties answering questions; she repeatedly had trouble answering the question “what part of him licked you.” Z.K. would respond by sticking out her tongue. (Exh. G-DVD-15:27:27-15:27:42; 15:28:00-15:28:05). Later in the conversation she refused to answer the question, but instead said “you already said that.” (Exh. G-DVD-15:35:15).

Just after her forensic interview, Z.K. was taken for a physical examination. The nurse practitioner, Julie Ritland, took a history from Z.K. as a part of the examination. Z.K. told Ritland that the neighbor did something bad-he licked her butt, and touched her with his hand. Z.K. stated that his tongue touched her skin. (Trial Tr. p. 251 L17-p. 252 L9; Trial Tr. p. 255 L13-15). Z.K. told Ritland that the licking occurred on the trampoline and in K.T.’s room, that K.T. was present both times it happened, and that **K.T. saw it occur**. (Trial Tr. p. 257 L23-p. 258 L10; Trial Tr. p. 259 L13-20) (emphasis added).

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