IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA  
Supreme Court No. 17-1697

---

STATE OF IOWA,  
Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

DALE ROBERT TOURNIER,  
Defendant-Appellant.

---

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT  
FOR BREMER COUNTY  
THE HON. CHRIS FOY, JUDGE

---

**APPELLEE'S BRIEF**

---

THOMAS J. MILLER  
Attorney General of Iowa

**LOUIS S. SLOVEN**  
Assistant Attorney General  
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor  
Des Moines, Iowa 50319  
(515) 281-5976  
[Louie.Sloven@ag.iowa.gov](mailto:Louie.Sloven@ag.iowa.gov)

KASEY E. WADDING  
Bremer County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

##

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

## II. **The Court Did Not Err in Denying Tournier’s Request to Present Additional Testimony in Lieu of a New Trial Under Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.24(2)(c).**

### **Preservation of Error**

Tournier requested the court re-open the record and “receive additional testimony” in the event that it did not order a new trial. *See* Sent.Tr. p.6,ln.20–p.7,ln.13. Error was preserved when the court considered and denied that request. *See* Sent.Tr. p.12,ln.19–p.14,ln.2.

### **Standard of Review**

Because this is analogous to a ruling on a motion for new trial, review is for abuse of discretion. *See Nitcher*, 720 N.W.2d at 559 (quoting *Reeves*, 670 N.W.2d at 202). “We review the district court’s interpretation of our criminal rules of procedure for correction of errors at law.” *State v. Folkerts*, 703 N.W.2d 761, 763 (Iowa 2005).

### **Merits**

Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.24(2)(b) sets out a list of nine potential grounds for granting a motion for new trial. Rule 2.24(2)(c) provides a special rule for bench trials:

*Trials without juries.* On a motion for a new trial in an action tried without a jury, the court may where appropriate, in lieu of granting a new trial, vacate the judgment if entered, take additional testimony, amend findings of fact and conclusions of law or make new findings and conclusions, and enter judgment accordingly.

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.24(2)(c). Tournier argues the court should have construed this rule to create a free-standing *tenth* ground for granting a motion for new trial and re-opening the record to receive evidence. *See* Def’s Br. at 58–71. But Rule 2.24(2)(c) specifically states that this alternative remedy can be employed “in lieu of granting a new trial”—which means that grounds for “granting a new trial” must be present. Tournier claims this erodes the difference between jury trials and bench trials, and he asks: “[I]f it were the intent of the Legislature to apply the same standard to both, then why create a rule separate from that of Rule 2.24(2)(b)?” *See* Def’s Br. at 61–62. Tournier ignores the clear intent of Rule 2.24(2)(c): to make an additional *remedy* available for bench trials “where appropriate,” to eliminate the need to receive the same testimony/evidence that the trial court has already received (without inadvertently authorizing similar procedures for jury trials).

In any event, Rule 2.24(2)(b)(9) moots this entire argument: it empowers the trial court to order a new trial if, “from any other cause” aside from those listed in Rule 2.24(2)(b)(1)–(8), “the defendant has not received a fair and impartial trial.” Iowa R. Crim P. 2.24(2)(b)(9). It does not matter if Rule 2.24(2)(c) creates a free-standing catch-all grounds for granting a motion for new trial—Iowa already has one.

Tournier cannot show he did not receive a “fair and impartial” trial, under any plausible reading of that phrase. Tournier argues that there are “exceptional circumstances that can result in the necessity of taking ‘additional testimony’ that is not ‘newly discovered evidence.’” *See* Def’s Br. at 61–63. Certainly, that is conceivable—but Tournier’s best attempt to show any “exceptional circumstances” is that “at the time Defense Counsel tried the case, Counsel could not anticipate that the Court could or would divide the allegations since the allegations were so intertwined.” *See* Def’s Br. at 65–67. But Tournier does not provide any reason to believe that failure to anticipate that possibility somehow impacted his counsel’s trial strategy, and (more importantly) he does not provide any basis for believing that could have rendered his trial unfair or otherwise suspect. What could Tournier have said that would not be part of his defense to *both* charges, but would have been part of his defense to the hand-to-genital-contact charge alone? Tournier does not explain, and this Court should not speculate. *See, e.g., United States v. Dunkel*, 927 F.2d 955, 956 (7th Cir. 1991) (“Judges are not like pigs, hunting for truffles buried in briefs.”). Tournier never had any incentive to sandbag exculpatory evidence, no matter how many counts of sexual abuse he was charged with.

Tournier was acutely aware that K.T.’s version of events was not explored or offered to the trial court—indeed, Tournier’s counsel had emphasized that fact to attack the strength of the State’s case and the rigor of Captain Leonard’s investigation. *See* TrialTr. p.213,ln.15–p.216,ln.24; TrialTr. p.240,ln.24–p.242,ln.7; TrialTr. p.257,ln.16–p.258,ln.10; TrialTr. p.336,ln.6–p.337,ln.5. Tournier claims that he is “not asking for a do-over of his case because he was unhappy with the outcome.” *See* Def’s Br. at 67. But that is precisely what he is doing—Tournier’s strategy was unsuccessful, and now he wants a retrial to pursue a different strategy and determine whether the other version of his defense advocacy would have been more successful. Of course, Tournier would invoke protections against double jeopardy if the State sought a “do-over” on the charge alleging mouth-to-genital contact. This asymmetric effect of retrial incentivizes criminal defendants to perpetually seek to relitigate adjudicative facts supporting conviction and has been repeatedly recognized as a reason why “[m]otions for new trials based upon newly discovered evidence are not favored in the law and should be closely scrutinized and granted sparingly.” *See State v. Compiano*, 154 N.W.2d 845, 849–50 (Iowa 1967) (citing *Westergard v. Des Moines Ry. Co.*, 52 N.W.2d 39, 42 (Iowa 1952)).

In reality, Tournier is trying to manufacture a reason to apply a standard that would grant a new trial for “newly discovered evidence” that is not “newly discovered.” See Def’s Br. at 59 n.8, 63–71. But the inclusion of a grounds for new trial that would require *new* evidence is a strong indicator that failure to present evidence known to counsel throughout the trial is *not* adequate grounds for ordering a new trial—or for granting any remedy “in lieu of” ordering a new trial. See, e.g., *Staff Mgmt. v. Jimenez*, 839 N.W.2d 640, 649 (Iowa 2013) (quoting *Meinders v. Dunkerton Cmty. Sch. Dist.*, 645 N.W.2d 632, 637 (Iowa 2002)) (discussing principle of *expressio unius est exclusio alterius*: “legislative intent is expressed by omission as well as by inclusion, and the express mention of one thing implies the exclusion of others not so mentioned”). Indeed, Rule 2.24(2)(b)(8) elaborates on what must be shown, including “the affidavits or testimony of the witnesses by whom such evidence is expected to be given” and that the evidence is something “the defendant could not with reasonable diligence have discovered and produced at the trial.” Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.24(2)(b)(8). Tournier’s reading would reduce all of that language to surplusage by inventing a new claim with no discernable basis in the rules and would permit him to seek multiple successive trials and incremental verdicts.

Tournier’s argument conveys frustration with the absence of any explanation as to why the trial court “split the baby.” *See* Def’s Br. at 65–67. But Tournier never moved for expanded findings on that particular issue. *See State v. Miles*, 346 N.W.2d 517, 518–19 (Iowa 1984); *State v. McAfee*, No. 13–0268, 2014 WL 1494901, at \*2 n.1 (Iowa Ct. App. Apr. 16, 2014) (“[T]o the extent McAfee challenges the trial court’s failure to make specific findings on each element of the offenses in its verdict, he was required to file motion for a new trial, seeking to amend or enlarge, to preserve error.”). Perhaps the trial court noted that DNA analysis showed the presence of *unknown* contributor DNA on Z.K.’s clothes and body, but was unable to identify Tournier’s saliva with any specificity. *See* State’s Ex. C-1, C-2; App. 9–12. Or perhaps the trial court believed Z.K.’s descriptions of where Tournier “licked” had not shown prohibited mouth-to-*genital* contact with the same degree of specificity as Z.K.’s pantomime-supported description of where he touched her with his hand. *See* State’s Ex. G at 7:42–9:29. Alternatively, perhaps the trial court noted that Z.K. focused on the hand-to-genital contact during her trial testimony and never wavered from that, while she specifically testified that Tournier had never licked her in K.T.’s room. *See* TrialTr. p.30,ln.22–p.35,ln.23;

TrialTr. p.56,ln.22–p.58,ln.5. While the State still believes Tournier committed both offenses as charged, the court’s findings and verdict do not amount to an inherently nonsensical outcome and cannot be characterized as an abuse of discretion in evaluating the evidence.

Tournier also argues the trial court “considered evidence outside the record when it reached its conclusion.” *See* Def’s Br. at 68–69. But all fact-finders, whether jurors or judges, are required to apply their common sense and human experience to the facts and evidence adduced throughout the trial. *See, e.g., State v. Hassan*, 128 N.W. 960, 966 (Iowa 1910) (“The idea sought to be conveyed is that a juror is not an artificial being, whose judgment is to be governed by technical and artificial rules, but that he is a man, and should, while acting as a juror, act as a man, exercising his reason, his intelligence, his everyday judgment and his common sense.”). Indeed, the trial court’s remarks make so much sense that Tournier needed to misrepresent them to attack them—the court never said and never implied that it “does not believe that young children can make credible sex abuse allegations or be competent witnesses.” *See* Def’s Br. at 68–69. Rather, the trial court pointed out that K.T., at four years old, would have been unlikely to understand the *significance* of what she observed—which means she

would be unlikely to alert anyone else if she witnessed touching that amounted to sexual abuse and unlikely to remember useful details about that particular afternoon with any clarity, ten months later. *See* Sent.Tr. p.12,ln.19–22. If K.T. *did* have a clear memory of that day, Tournier was free to provide an affidavit (or comparable offer of proof) to support his motion for new trial—but he did not, and the record is devoid of any material suggesting K.T.’s testimony (or the testimony of any other counterfactual witness Tournier mentioned during the hearing on his motion for new trial) would have had exculpatory value.

If such testimony would have mattered, Tournier will be able to advance a postconviction relief action that alleged his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to present that testimony during his trial. *See, e.g., Ledezma v. State*, 626 N.W.2d 134, 148–49 (Iowa 2001). But Tournier cannot allege his trial was unfair because of evidence that he knew about and declined to present—especially when he also declined to provide *proof* of what that testimony would have been at the hearing on his motion for new trial. On the record available to this Court on direct appeal, there is no grounds for concluding that the trial court abused its broad discretion when it denied Tournier’s motion for new trial and his request to re-open the trial record.

### **III. The Trial Court Would Need to Assess Tournier’s Reasonable Ability to Pay Before Assessing Restitution for Jail Fees, But It Has Not Assessed Those Costs—So Tournier’s Challenge Is Not Ripe.**

#### **Preservation of Error**

Tournier may challenge a procedurally defective sentencing order on direct appeal without preserving error by objecting below.

*See, e.g., State v. Thomas*, 520 N.W.2d 311, 313 (Iowa Ct. App. 1994).

#### **Standard of Review**

A district court’s restitution order is reviewed for errors at law. *State v. Jose*, 636 N.W.2d 38, 43 (Iowa 2001) (citing *State v. Watts*, 587 N.W.2d 750, 751 (Iowa 1998)). Constitutional issues are reviewed de novo. *State v. Dudley*, 766 N.W.2d 606, 626 (Iowa 2009).

#### **Merits**

Generally, “a court must determine a criminal defendant’s ability to pay before entering an order requiring such defendant to pay criminal restitution pursuant to Iowa Code section 910.2.” *See Goodrich v. State*, 608 N.W.2d 774, 776 (Iowa 2000). But Tournier clarifies that “the issue here is not about the Court failing to make the constitutional reasonable ability to pay determination, but whether the Court can make a determination on the Defendant’s reasonable ability to pay when the amount is unknown.” *See Def’s Br.* at 75–77.

He specifically refers to the jail fees under section 356.7, which were referenced in the sentencing court's order and which Tournier was "ordered to pay," in as-yet-indefinite amounts. *See* Sentencing Order (10/18/17) at 1; App. 20. Tournier is correct that the sheriff and/or municipality have not yet filed any request to have the amount of Tournier's jail fees included in his restitution obligations, pursuant to section 356.7(2)(i). *See* Def's Br. at 74 (citing Iowa Code § 356.7). Alternatively, "[t]he sheriff or municipality may choose to enforce the claim in the manner provided in chapter 626." Iowa Code § 356.7(3); *see also State v. Abrahamson*, 696 N.W.2d 589, 591 (Iowa 2005). Because jail room-and-board fees have not yet been included in any plan of restitution, any finding that Tournier is reasonably able to pay those fees would be premature. *See State v. Campbell*, No. 15–1181, 2016 WL 4543763, at \*3–4 & n.5 (Iowa Ct. App. Aug. 31, 2016) (noting "the sentencing court made an affirmative finding of Campbell's ability to pay without knowing the total amount—or a reasonable estimate—of the restitution owed," which was "troubling" to the court because "logically, the amount of victim restitution ordered could affect a defendant's reasonable ability to pay attorney fees and court costs"). And yet, there is no request for those fees—so the issue is not ripe.

This means that *Jackson* and *Swartz* control this challenge. In each of those cases, a defendant challenged the sentencing court’s failure to make a determination regarding “reasonable ability to pay” before entering a temporary restitution order—and, in both cases, the challenge was dismissed because it had been brought prematurely.

First, it does not appear in the present case that the plan of restitution contemplated by Iowa Code section 910.3 was complete at the time the notice of appeal was filed. Until this is done, the court is not required to give consideration to the defendant’s ability to pay. . . . Second, Iowa Code section 910.7 permits an offender who is dissatisfied with the amount of restitution required by the plan to petition the district court for a modification. Unless that remedy has been exhausted, we have no basis for reviewing the issue in this court.

*State v. Jackson*, 601 N.W.2d 354, 357 (Iowa 1999) (citing *State v. Swartz*, 601 N.W.2d 348, 354 (Iowa 1999)). If a request for jail fees is ever filed for inclusion in a modified restitution order, Tournier will be entitled to a determination of his reasonable ability to pay them. But until then, the challenged language in the sentencing order has no real effect, and this dispute is “merely hypothetical or speculative.” See *State v. Tripp*, 776 N.W.2d 855, 858–59 (Iowa 2010) (citing *State v. Wade*, 757 N.W.2d 618, 626–27 (Iowa 2008)). Therefore, Tournier’s challenge is not ripe and this Court should decline to consider it.

## CONCLUSION

The State respectfully requests that this Court affirm Tournier's conviction and sentence.

## REQUEST FOR NONORAL SUBMISSION

This case should be set for nonoral submission. In the event argument is scheduled, the State asks to be heard.